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1. Introduction

This report, prepared by VHA Architects, provides A general background and condition report on the remains of:

102 Main Street, Portlaoise, Co. Laois.

The report forms one of the supporting documents in an application to Laois County Council for permission to
develop the property under the Local Government (Planning and Development) Act 2000 and the report is issued

solely for this purpose.

It is not an Architectural Heritage Impact Assessment and is based on a visual and photographic survey completed in
May 2020. The inspection did not include any invasive opening up of the structure or any assessment of the

presence of Asbestos or any other hazardous substances.
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2. Methodology

This report is based on desktop research, site inspection and desk-based assessment. A desktop assessment has
been carried out in order to identify all designated architectural heritage structures within the study area. The
National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH) was the main source consulted for assessing the recorded
architectural heritage resource. In addition, the following sources were consulted as part of the desktop study:

Cartographic Sources —

The cartographic sources highlight the development of Portlaoise. The cartographic sources examined for the study
areas include “The Griffith’s Valuation Map; the 1st edition of the 6-inch Ordnance Survey (OS) maps, (surveyed and
published in the 1830s-40s) and the 25-inch OS maps (surveyed and published 1888-1913)

Survey

An inspection was carried out of the buildings and site in May 2020. The site of the existing buildings was examined.
A photographic record was undertaken of the proposed development site and the relevant parts of 102 Main Street,
Portlaoise, Co. Laois. There was only limited research of the property's history.



3. Executive summary

The building was constructed from stone C1810 and was further extended to the rear C1890 with a 2 storey stone
built extension. There were further extensions added during the 1950’s of a poor quality with corrugated steel sheet
roofing. The building was further modified assuming at some stage during the 1980’s when any items of significance
such as internal moldings, fire places, ceilings, wall decoration, original doors and windows were lost. The front
elevation was also altered at this time. Alterations included changing the proportions of the facade at ground floor
resulting in the loss of the original character and proportions of the front elevation. The house was converted to a
hotel ¢.1870.

The building has a steep pitched artificial slate roof with clay ridge tiles largely missing since a recent first floor fire in
2015. Tall rendered chimney stacks to gables with clay chimney pots and cast-iron rainwater down pipe to front. The
Right hand stack is partially collapsed with significant fire damage. Painted render walls with a smooth render plinth
and string course incorporating first floor window sills, raised stucco staggered quoins to the corners. Square headed
window openings reducing in size to the upper storey with moulded architraves and painted stone sills. Smooth
painted render surrounds to enlarged ground floor window and door openings, broken uPVC window boarded up,
main doors boarded up, side door replacement door with plain glazed rectangular overlight. UPVC windows to first
floor, original opes partially blocked up from floor to sill. One over one with ogee horns timber sliding sash windows
to second floor badly damaged by fire. The building fronts directly onto the street. The buildings located on the site
are no longer in use.

The site is land locked on all sides. It is bounded to the east by a photography studio (Robert Redmond studios) and
by Ramsbottom & Sons pub to the west. Access to the site can only be achieved via Main Street to the north and
there is a vehicular access point to the south of the site via Meehan Court. It is believed that there are right of way
existing however the extent of such as not yet been determined.

The proposed development consists of the re-development of the site for the provision of social residential
accommodation. The site area is approximately 0.0544ha. The site is currently in the ownership of Laois County
Council who have acquired it through a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO).

102 Main Street, Portlaoise, is a significant survival of Portlaoise early nineteenth-century architecture and
contributes to the composition of the main street. Despite the changes that have occurred the building retains a
presence and scale that book ends the commercial heart of Portlacise. The building has an interesting social history.
Many of the building’s occupants have contributed significantly to local history. Unfortunately, the building has not
been well treated and has suffered from insensitive refurbishments over the years which have resulted in the loss of
historically significant design features and details. The building does however retain a presence in the streetscape
which contributes to the varying roof line. The building marks a step up to a more urban scale when approaching the
town centre from Bridge Street. Much of Bridge street is two storey and No. 102 steps up to 3 storey with large
chimney stacks at each end which contribute to the scale of the building.

The building was assessed by the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage in their survey of Maryborough,
Portlaoise, and was assessed as being of Regional Importance. The NIAH attributes “Regional” significance to
“structures or sites that make a significant contribution to the architectural heritage within their region or area”.
These can “stand in comparison with similar structures or sites in other regions or areas within Ireland”. The NIAH
registration number is 12507059. The NIAH describes the building in the appraisal below.
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4. Context: Historical, Architectural and Cartographical

The Rev. John T. Moore appears to be the first owner of the house which was leased to a Patrick Quigly who
appeared to sub let to a number of tenants as shown in the extract below. The Rev. John T. Moore is identified as a
Governor and Director of the Maryborough District Lunatic Asylum and owned several properties in Maryborough at
the time.
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Extract from Church Of Ireland Ecclesiastical Directory for Ireland 1848 Diocese of Ossory.

As a Reverend of the Church of Ireland at the time he would be responsible for the collection of Tithes. Following the
Tithe war in Ireland full relief from the tax was not achieved until the Irish Church Act of 1869. There was resentment



amongst the Catholic majority over the collection of Tithes for the upkeep of the Church of Ireland. This lead to
reduction in incomes for the clergy which probably led to the sale of Leinster House to Patrick Quigly.
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Extract from Grif-fnith ’s Valuation for the parish of Borris

It is ironic that the property then passed to Patrick Doran in 1870 who later went on to be involved in the Irish
Republican Brotherhood and the Land League, and possibly the Easter Rising. The building was converted for use as a
Hotel and became known as the Leinster Hotel. It was managed by his daughter Elizabeth Doran as noted in the
census of 1901 in the extract below. The census of Ireland in 1911 identifies Patrick Doran as the head of the
household with his profession noted as a merchant. His age is noted as 63. There is a further document below from
the Property Losses of Ireland Committee 1916. This was a claim for damages caused during the disturbances on the
24th April 1916. This document places Patrick Doran in the Wynn’s Hotel, Dublin on the day of the Easter rising. It is
known that the Wynn's hotel was an important meeting place for the Irish Republican Brotherhood in the years and
months leading up to the Easter rising and had hosted meetings between the pivotal figures. On the 11th of
November 1913 at a meeting held in the hotel, a decision was taken to establish 'The Irish Volunteers'. The original
meeting was arranged by Eoin MacNeill, a professor in UCD at the time and Michael O'Rabhilly, (The O'Rahilly), a man
of independent means who was very active in the Gaelic League. At the meeting under Mac Neill's chairmanship it
was decided to establish an Irish Volunteer force. Others in attendance were Padraig Pearse, Eamonn Ceannt and

Sean Mac Diarmada. This historical meeting changed the course of Irish History.

During the 1916 rising a street barricade, which had been erected outside, Wynn's was set on fire by incendiary
bullets. A rebel volunteer on the roof of the GPO later recalled how he saw men and women “sitting in the windows
of Wynn’s Hotel in Lower Abbey St, watching the battle as from a theatre seat”. Then, what began as entertainment
for the guests turned dangerous. Under bombardment from British artillery, Wynn’s caught fire, the fire spread from
the barricade to the timber facings of the hotel and when guest and staff lives were threatened, they left the hotel
under the protection of a makeshift white flag and found refuge in The Clarence Hotel. They had succeeded in
getting there by Butt Bridge and the South Quays under the protection of the improvised white flag. One of these
must have been Patrick Doran who by 1916 would have been 68 years old.

Mr Doran was a member of the Irish Republican Brotherhood, a Justice of the Peace, and member of the Town
Commission. In 1881 he had spent three months in Naas Gaol for suspected Land League activities.



From these documents it could be assumed that Patrick Doran was in some way involved in the Easter Rising due to
his associations with the Irish Republican Brotherhood and his presence in the Wynn’s Hotel. There was a mission by
the Volunteers of Laois, that took place on the evening of 23rd April to destroy a section of railway track at a place
called Colt Wood. The day before the Rising began in Dublin. A monument to the event was erected near Colt Wood
in an area called Clonadadoran. The purpose of this exercise was to prevent British military reinforcements from
reaching Dublin via Waterford after the Rising had started. Could he have been involved in the planning of this?

Given Patrick Dorans associations The Leinster Hotel may well have been used for meetings by the Irish Republican
Brotherhood in the years leading to the Easter rising of 1916. Further more detailed research would be required to
establish if this was the case and if any of these meetings would have contributed to the events of 24th April 1916.
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Patrick Doran was succeeded by his son and namesake and, after the latter's untimely death in 1919, the hotel was
acquired by the Butler family. In August 1939, Mrs A. J. E. Butler put the hotel up for public auction and the buyers
were Mr and Mrs Charles Delaney. Born in Mounteagle House, Ballyroan in 1903, he was originally a farmer. Mr
Delaney was active in political life -member of the Town Commission, County Council, and numerous committees
and was a FineGael candidate in the General Election of 1943. He died in 1957.

In 1961, Fionan and Kathleen Bracken bought the hotel from Mrs Delaney and throughout the 1960's-70's, The
County Hotel was the venue of the weekly Rugby Club Dance. In 1976 it also boasted an off-licence and gift shop.
The Brackens left in August 1982. It was taken over by Danny Dempsey and advertised as the No. 1 Spot for
Entertainment in the Midlands, hosting such attractions as Eddie's Disco Roadshow and the World Disco Dancing
Championship 1985 Irish Finals. There was a Hairdressers on the second floor.
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Although The Leinster Hotel no longer makes any significant Architectural contribution in terms of historical
Architectural detail much of which has been lost it is however obvious that Leinster House and subsequent Leinster
Hotel has made a significant contribution to the history of Maryborough, Portlaoise and possibly Irish history. The
building also makes an important contribution to the streetscape, roofline and the stepping up in scale towards the
centre of Portlaoise. Unfortunately, the second floor was destroyed by fire which also caused significant damage to
the buildings structure. The roof has since been left open to the elements which has caused further significant
structural damage to the first and ground floors.



ARCHITECTURAL

The building was constructed from stone C1810 and was further extended to the rear C1890 with a 2 storey stone
built extension. There were further extensions added during the 1950’s of a poor quality with corrugated steel sheet
roofing. The building was further modified assuming at some stage during the 1980’s when any items of significance
such as internal moldings, fire places, ceilings, wall decoration, original doors and windows were lost. The front
elevation was also altered at this time. Alterations included changing the proportions of the fagade at ground floor
resulting in the loss of the original character and proportions of the front elevation.
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Leinster Hotel see'n on the right.

Leinster Hotel from the far end of Bridge Street. Note the building marks a step up in scale from rural village up to
commercial urban marking the edge of the commercial heart of Portlaoise



Cartographic record
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M2. Extract from the first edition Ordnance Survey map c. 1837 — 1842 6 Inch Colour.

This map shows the house and demesne as originally constructed without all of the later poor quality extensions.
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M3. Extract from the second edition Ordnance Survey map 1888-1913.

This map shows the location of the existing building with extensions beginning to extend into the rear yard around
the time the buildings use changed to a Hotel.

M4. Current Ordnance Survey Map. 102 outlined in red.
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Appendix: 1. Photographic record

From May 2020

1.

Front Elevation is in poor condition. Fire damage to roof
resulted in the loss of all roof slates. Some fibre cement
slates are present on the ground floor suggesting that the
original slate roof had at some stage being replaced with
fibre cement slate. Gutters are lost. Roof timbers were
damaged by fire and are now affected by rot. Building is
open to elements with vegetation present. Building has
been de-stabilised. Scaffold has been erected to the front
to protect pedestrians from potential of debris falling
from the roof.

2.

The building currently is detrimental to the streetscape
and the ACA. The derelict building is having a negative
impact and is contributing a sense of deterioration and
dereliction on the main street. The majority of historically
significant features have been lost through insensitive,
renovations. The proportions seen on some of the
historical photographs have been altered significantly
which has led to a loss of the buildings design quality.

3.

Original windows at second floor that had survived
renovations which included window replacements at
ground and first floor, were destroyed by the recent fire.

4,

The chimney to the right-hand side has partially
collapsed. The roof is open to the elements leading to
significant deterioration internally. Chimney pots have
been removed and are stored on the ground floor.




5.

Moulded window surrounds survive at first and second
floor along with the stucco quoining at each side of the
building.

6.

Front door. The front door is in poor condition. This is a
replacement door set into a re-configured door opening.
The inner lobby is constructed of timber with a dark stain
varnish. This is a recent addition circa 1980’s

7.

Original ceilings have been replaced at ground floor with
gypsum plasterboard ceilings with the consequential loss
of any cornicing and ceiling roses. This ceiling is now in
very poor condition. Timbers are saturated and in poor
condition with wet rot present.

8.
The inner lobby is constructed of timber with a dark stain
varnish. This is a recent addition circa 1980’s




9.

Walls and ceilings at ground floor are in very poor
condition. Walls had been re-plastered with gypsum
plasters resulting in the loss of any historical features.

10.

Walls and ceilings at ground floor are in very poor
condition. Walls had been re-plastered with gypsum
plasters resulting in the loss of any historical features.
Archway probably linked into rooms within the rear
extension constructed circa 1890’s. Blocked off at some
stage to allow for construction of WC’s behind.

11.

Ground floor bar located within more recent ¢1950’s
extension. The external wall of the 1890’s rear two storey
extension can be seen to the right.

The entire ground floor is in very poor condition with no
surviving features other than the archway seen in the
photo above.

12.
Chimney pots removed from chimney to the left-hand
side. Remains of fibre cement slates.




13.
Male WC's located behind the blocked up archway within
the 1890’s extension.

14.
Lobby to WC's.

15.
Ground floor looking towards front door.

16.
Ground floor female WC'’s located with ¢ 1890’s
extension.




17.
Ground floor dance hall and stage.

18.
Ground floor bar.

19.
Ground floor commercial kitchen.

20.
Ground floor rear lounge with roof partially collapsed.




21.
Ground floor rear lounge with roof partially collapsed. In
imminent danger of further collapse.

22.
Ground floor rear escape corridor.

23.
Rear stairs accessing first floor rear function room and
bedrooms. All circa 1950’s and in very poor condition.

24,
Ground floor bar. C1980’s.




25.
Poster indicating past events and a once thriving
establishment.

26.

First floor front reception area in very poor condition.
Floors un-even and un-secure. Original lath and plaster
ceilings over slabbed with gypsum plaster board. Front
replacement Aluminium windows.

27.
Blocked up window opening at first floor to rear wall of
original building.

28.
Extensively damaged lath and plaster ceilings over
slabbed with gypsum plasterboards on timber battens.




29.

Corridor leading back into 1890’s extension through
archway. Archway is in the original rear wall of the
property.

30.
Aluminum replacement windows in very poor condition.

31.

Partially collapsed chimney to Right hand side. Fire place
opening located at first floor. Daylight can be seen
through party wall with adjoining public house.

Floors structurally dangerous. In danger of imminent
collapse.

32.

Daylight can be seen through party wall with adjoining
public house. First floor is open to elements above where
roof has been destroyed.




33.
Missing floor boards at first floor.

34,

Looking up into second floor and roof space above. The
second floor has been badly damaged by fire and access
was not possible.

The original stairs have been replaced and now rise in the
opposite direction to the original stairs. Remnants of the
original handrail can be seen built into the wall on the
right of the photograph.

Fire and water damage to the second floor ceilings is
extensive resulting in the loss of the majority of the
ceilings.

35.

Second floor doors are modern flush doors of poor
quality. All original doors and architraves have been lost
during previous insensitive refurbishments.




36.
Extensive fire and water damage to second floor walls.

37.

First floor corridor within rear 1890’s stone built 2 storey
extension. Any original features have been lost through
insensitive refurbishments.

38.

First floor bedroom within rear 1890’s stone built 2
storey extension. Ceiling is original lath and plaster
ceiling. Laths are visible where plaster has come away.

39,
First floor bedroom within rear 1890’s stone built 2

storey extension. Original window with splayed reveals
and sill.
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40.

First floor bedroom within rear 1890’s stone built 2
storey extension. Original window with splayed reveals
and sill. Original shutters survive.

41.
First floor bedroom within rear 1890’s stone built 2

storey extension. Original window with splayed reveals
and sill.

42.
First floor corridor within rear 1950’s extension. The

original external wall of the 1890’s extension is to the
right, painted yellow.

43.

First floor bedroom within rear 1950’s extension of poor
quality.




44,
First floor bedroom within rear 1950’s extension of poor
quality.

45,
First floor corridor within rear 1950’s extension of poor
quality.

46.
First floor bedroom within rear 1950’s extension of poor
quality.




47.
First floor corridor within rear 1950’s extension of poor
quality. Access into first floor function room to the rear.

48.
First floor apartment kitchen within rear 1950’s extension
of poor quality.

49,
First floor function room to the rear within rear 1950’s
extension of poor quality.

50.
First floor function room to the rear within rear 1950’s
extension of poor quality.




51

View of the rear of the property. The roof of the original
building can be seen with slates missing and chimney to
left missing. The elevation of the rear extensions can be
partially seen to the right of the photo behind the
corrugated steel barn roof.

52
The elevation of the rear extensions can be partially seen
at the back of the photo.

53

View from the rear yard behind the property. The poor
quality rear extensions can be seen. To the right is the
area with a partially collapsed roof whilst the two storey
extension from C 1950’s is clad in the corrugated steel
sheets.

54
Poor quality rear extension with partially collapsed roof.




55.
Poor quality rear extension with partially collapsed roof.




